SAMPLE OUTLINE


The MINER Act: Keeping Out of Trouble

John M. Williams

I. Introduction


In 2006, underground coal mine accidents in West Virginia and Kentucky brought underground coal mine safety to the forefront of the national news and legislative agendas.  On June 15, 2006, the Mine Improvement and New Emergency Response (“MINER”) Act of 2006 (P.L. 109-236 S2803 June 15, 2006) became law, substantially amending the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (30 U.S.C. Section 801, et. seq.) (the “Mine Act”).  The impact on underground coal mining was immediate and continues nearly two years after passage of the MINER Act.  


The MINER Act’s changes include:

· Development of emergency response plans

· New requirements for the storage and availability of self-contained self rescuers

· Use of improved technology

· Changes in requirements for mine rescue teams

· Injunctive relief to assist in the collection of civil penalties

· Increased requirements for sealing abandoned areas

· Increased civil and criminal penalties

· New penalties for failure to timely report mine accidents


An analysis of all these changes is beyond the scope of this article.  This article examines the impact of the MINER Act on civil penalties for coal operators and practical steps to avoid and limit liability.  It does not address individual, criminal or contractor liability or standards for metal and non-metal mining.

II. The MINER Act:  An Overview of Changes to the Mine Act Civil Penalty System

The immediate impact of the MINER Act was in the compliance area, as operators developed emergency action plans and purchased self-rescuers.  As time goes on, the MINER Act’s most significant impact may well be the substantial increase in liability for safety violations.  


Under the Mine Act, the United States Department of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”) is charged with setting mandatory health and safety standards for mines.  30 U.S.C. Section 811.  MSHA has established, by regulation, mandatory health and safety standards for all mines (coal, metal and non-metal).  Typically, mines are cited for violations during either periodic mine inspections or accident investigations.  The Mine Act has several categories of violations and corresponding penalties.  Each is addressed below.

A. Section 104(a) Violations


Section 104(a) [30 U.S.C. Section 814(a)] of the Mine Act states:


If, upon inspection or investigation, the secretary or his authorized representative believes that an operator of a coal or other mine subject to this Act has violated this Act, or any mandatory health or safety standard, rule, order, or regulation promulgated pursuant to this Act, he shall, with reasonable promptness, issue a citation to the operator.

30 C.F.R. Section 100.5(c) authorizes a maximum penalty of $6,500.00 for failure to abate a 104(a) violation.  The MINER Act does not change the penalties for 104(a) citations; however, regulations promulgated after the Act’s passage have substantially increased the penalties under this section.  Those changes are discussed in more detail below. 

B. Section 104(d) Violations


In addition to 104(a) citations, the Mine Act also imposes penalties under Section 104(d) [30 U.S.C. Section 814(d)] for significant and substantial violations resulting from unwarrantable failures to follow the law.  A violation is significant and substantial if it has a reasonable likelihood to result in an injury of a reasonably serious nature.  Windsor Coal Company v. Secretary of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Admin., 166 F.3d 337 (4th Cir. 1998).  Unwarrantable failure is “aggravated conduct, constituting more than ordinary negligence, by a mine operator in relation to a violation of the Act.”  Jim Walter Resources v. Secretary of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Admin., 103 F.3d 1020, 1025 (D.C. Cir. 1997).The MINER Act establishes a minimum penalty of $2,000.00 for Section 104(d)(1) violations.


The Mine Act “provides for escalating enforcement sanctions under Section 104 (d) of the Act, so that some of the violations hinge on the issuance of a prior citation.”  Windsor Coal Company, supra at 338, fn. 4.  For example, if, within 90 days of a 104(d)(1) citation, there is a similar violation, MSHA may order withdrawal of all miners from the affected area of the mine. 30 U.S.C. Section 814 (d)(1).  If MSHA finds a similar violation upon a subsequent inspection, an order under Section 104(d)(2) may be issued ordering withdrawal until such time as the violation is abated.   30 U.S.C. Section 814(d)(2).  The MINER Act sets the minimum penalty for 104(d)(2) violations at $4,000.00.

C. Notification


The MINER Act also affects penalties for failing to report mine accidents.  Under Section 103(j) of the Mine Act [30 U.S.C. Section 813(j)], operators were required to immediately report mine accidents to MSHA.  The MINER Act amends this requirement to state that “the notification required shall be provided by the operator within 15 minutes of the time at which the operator realizes that the death of an individual at the mine, or an injury or entrapment of an individual at the mine which has a reasonable potential to cause death, has occurred.”  The penalty for violation of this statute ranges from $5,000.00 to $60,000.00.


Section 103(j) is interpreted more broadly than written.  Even before the MINER Act, the law required notification of any “accident,” defined in the Mine Act as including “a mine explosion, mine ignition, mine fire, or mine inundation, or injury to, or death of, any person.”  30 U.S.C. Section 802(k).  30 C.F.R. Section 50.10 requires immediate notification to MSHA of any accident, but defines “accident” more broadly.  30 C.F.R. Section 50.2(h) lists twelve different events as “accidents.”  The author knows of no successful challenge to the regulations over this apparent inconsistency.


The “15 minute” rule is limited to entrapment, death, and injury which could cause death.  As noted above, 30 U.S.C. Section 813 (j) requires notification in several other instances as does 30 C.F.R. Section 50.10.  MSHA Program Instruction Letter No. I06-III-2, dated August 29, 2006, states that those other instances “are not subject to the $5,000 minimum penalty assessment.”  http://www.msha.gov/regs/ complian/pils/2006/pil-iii-2.asp.  Thus, from an enforcement standpoint it appears that MSHA will narrowly construe the 15 minute notification requirement.  
D. Flagrant Violations


The MINER Act creates a new category for “flagrant violations.”  30 U.S.C. Section 820(b).  A flagrant violation is a “reckless or repeated failure to make reasonable efforts to eliminate a known violation of a mandatory health or safety standard that substantially and proximately caused, or reasonably could have been expected to cause, death or serious bodily injury.”  30 U.S.C. Section 820(b).  Penalties for flagrant violations may be assessed up to $220,000.00 per violation.


Although there is no case law interpreting this new liability, MSHA defines this category broadly.  MSHA Program Instruction Letter No. I06-III-04, dated October 26, 2006, states that a “reckless failure” exists where:

1. The violation is significant and substantial;

2. Injury or illness is at least permanently disabling;

3. The citation or order resulted from an unwarrantable failure; and

4. Negligence is evaluated as reckless disregard.

In MSHA Program Policy Instruction Letter No. I06-III-04, MSHA defines a “repeated failure” as:

1. Significant and substantial;

2. At least permanently disabling;

3. An unwarrantable failure; and

4. There have been at least two unwarrantable failure violations of the same standard within the past fifteen months.

http://www.msha.gov/regs/complian/pils/2006/pil06-iii-4.pdf.

The application of the flagrant standard has not been limited to violations resulting in injury or death.  MSHA has issued flagrant violation citations and orders for alleged violations where no miners were injured.  In several such instances, MSHA has assessed the maximum penalty of $220,000.00.

E.
Penalty Point Regulations

Section 110 of the Mine Act (30 U.S.C. Section 820) authorizes the assessment of a civil penalty for any violation of the Mine Act.  The penalty assessed shall consider the following factors:

1. Operator Size; 

2. Violation History;

3. Negligence (none, low, moderate, high, or reckless disregard);

4. Gravity (likelihood of injury, severity of potential injury, and number of people affected);

5. Good faith abatement; and

6. Effect on ability to continue in business.

The Mine Act does not offer any guidance as to how these factors are to be weighed; however, 30 C.F.R. Section 100 creates a point system pursuant to which the factors are assigned points.  Operator size, violation history, negligence and gravity of the violation are all assigned points.  A 10% reduction is available if the operator demonstrates good faith in abating the violation.  The total points for a particular violation are then converted to dollars.  See 30 C.F.R. Section 100, Table XIV.  The point conversation table in that section translates the points into a proposed civil penalty.


MSHA assesses penalties as “regular” or “special.”  A regular assessment is determined through a point system in 30 C.F.R. Section 100.  The new regulations authorize a special assessment where “conditions warrant….” 30 C.F.R. Section 100.5(a).  The old regulations listed specific categories as appropriate for special assessments.  Special assessments are typically used for more serious violations.  The same criteria are considered but the point system is not used.  30 C.F.R. Section 100.5(a).


The MINER Act set in motion significant changes to the penalty point system.  After the Act’s passage, MSHA promulgated regulations to implement the MINER Act’s changes.  These new regulations became effective April 23, 2007.  72 Fed. Reg. 13,592 (2007).  Below is a summary of the changes to the point system:


The Point Scale:  The point scale in Table XIV of 30 C.F.R. Section 100 was completely changed.  For example under the old system, a violation assigned 80 points was assessed at $11,535.00.  Under the new regulation, an 80 point penalty is only $555.00.  Unfortunately for operators, this is not a reduction in the penalties.  The points assigned to each factor in 30 U.S.C. Section 820 were also changed.  As a result, it is not possible to compare point totals from prior to April 23, 2007 to current totals for the same violation.  It is the proverbial apples to oranges comparison.  


Here is an example of the difference.  A recent assessment was issued for an operator at $48,472.00, based upon a point total of 138.  Under the old regulations, the same citation would have been assessed 71 points or a penalty of $6,374.00, which would be reduced by 30% for good faith abatement.  Operators can cite many such examples. 


The new regulations also cause rapid escalation of penalties for point increases.  Under the old regulations a citation assigned 73 points was assessed at $6,981.00.  If the likelihood of occurrence changed from reasonably to highly likely, the penalty would increase by $607.00.  Under the new system, an equivalent penalty ($7,176.00) would more than double to $15,971.00 with the same change in likelihood.  


The increase comes from the increased weight of points for serious violations and a new point category for repeat violations of the same standard.  30 C.F.R. Section 100.3(c)(2). 


Elimination of the Single Penalty Assessment:  Under the Mine Act, operators could be assessed a “single penalty” assessment of $60.00 for minor violations, which was not based upon the point system.  This was eliminated.  The minimum penalty under 30 C.F.R. 100 is now $112.00.


Increased Maximum Penalty:  This maximum penalty for Section 104 assessments was raised from $50,000.00 to $60,000.00.  Effective March 10, 2008, the maximum penalty increased to $70,000.00 to adjust for inflation, and the maximum per day penalty for failure to abate 104(a) violations increased to $7,500.00.  73 Fed. Reg. 7,206 (2008).


Abatement:  The discount for good faith abatement was reduced from 30% to 10%.
III. Impact of Increased Penalty Assessments


Prior to the MINER Act and the increased penalties, assessments were often either paid, if relatively minor, or handled in-house by operators.  Often, safety departments or in-house counsel would handle these matters.  The substantial increase in penalties has made this more difficult for operators.  The remainder of this article addresses practical considerations of the increased penalties and best practices to minimize liability.

A. To Contest or Not Contest


Upon receipt of a proposed assessment, the operator has 30 days to notify MSHA of its intent to contest the assessment.  30 U.S.C. Section 815 (a).  Once it is contested, MSHA then must file a petition for assessment before the Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission.  Id. The matter then proceeds to litigation before an Administrative Law Judge, where the operator may contest both the fact of the violation and the amount of the penalty.  With the increase in penalties, assessment contests are now more likely.


There are several factors to consider in contesting any proposed assessment:

· Defenses:  As with any litigation matter, the merits must be weighed.  In house safety departments often contest assessments based simply on the amount.  While it is always possible to argue that the proposed assessment is excessive, do not ignore the merits of the citation or order.  Consistently contesting assessments without properly evaluating the merits cost operators both credibility and expense. 

· Economics:  As with any litigation, the operator must consider economics.  If an assessment is relatively small, attorneys’ fees may far exceed the potential liability.  

· Nature of the violation:  If a violation is significant and substantial or an unwarrantable failure, contesting the violation must be considered, regardless of the economics.  As noted above, a “repeated failure” can trigger a flagrant violation.  In addition, Section 104(e) of the Mine Act [(30 U.S.C. Section 814(e)] provides for significant liability for a pattern of violations.  Safety personnel must be aware of the mine’s violation history to judge whether to contest a citation or order.  Also, because Section 104(d) of the Mine Act provides for escalating penalties based prior violations, any citation or order under that section must be evaluated to determine whether to contest.

· Demands on Employees and Management:  Each contested matter is similar to filing or defending a civil suit.  Although discovery is often more limited, there can still be substantial demands on management and employees for discovery and trial.  

B. Matters Which Should Be Contested.


Although each violation is evaluated on its merits, a number of violations merit serious consideration for contesting:

· Special Assessments:  Special assessments do not use the point system and the penalties often far exceed the point guidelines.  Administrative law judges review all penalties de novo.  Secretary of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Admin. v. Ambrosia Coal & Construction Co., 18 FMSHRC 1552 (1996).  Where a special assessment appears out of proportion to the violation, litigation may be the best approach.

· Large Assessments:  The change in the point system caused a substantial change in penalties.  If a penalty appears far out of proportion to the violation, a contest may be necessary.  “Judges and the Commission are not bound by the penalty proposal in assessing penalty.”  Ambrosia Coal, supra at 1565.  Thus, the operator can always argue that the penalty is excessive under the Mine Act’s guidelines, regardless of the point calculation.

· Flagrant Violations:  Because of the large penalties associated with flagrant violations, contesting will likely make economic sense.  It may be advisable to litigate to allow the ALJ to review the assessment, especially where the maximum penalty ($220,000.00) is assessed.

· Fatalities/Serious Accidents:  The typically large assessments and attendant negative publicity associated with fatal or serious accidents often make litigation necessary.  Moreover, where there is the potential for a civil suit, litigation of MSHA liability is often a must.  The risk that a finding of negligence will be admitted into evidence in a separate civil suit will often justify contesting the violation, even if the assessment is comparatively small.

· Repeat Violations:  Repeat violations of the same standard raise two risks.  First is the possibility of a later flagrant violation.  Second is that repeat violations can be the basis of a claim of pattern of violations under 30 U.S.C. Section 814 (e).  Mine management must stay abreast of the mine’s violation history to identify repeat violations.

· Closure Orders:  Closure orders under Sections 104(b) [30 U.S.C. Section 814(b)] and 107 [30 U.S.C. Section 817] may not have penalties associated with them, but may need to be contested.  If it is a situation which the operator believes may recur, litigation of the validity of the order may be necessary to prevent repeated future closure orders.

C. Use of Outside Counsel


Some operators hesitate to use outside counsel because of expense.  Operators may represent themselves in assessment actions.  MSHA may use Conference Litigation Representatives, who are not attorneys, on small matters. The following are considerations when considering retention of outside counsel:

· Procedural Rules:  The Mine Act has specific guidelines for contesting assessments. 30 U.S.C. Section 815.  Likewise, the Commission has its own procedural rules.  29 C.F.R. Part 2700, et. seq.  Operators who represent themselves must be aware of, and follow, these rules.

· Large Assessments or Serious Violations:  Some violations and assessments are so significant that there is no doubt that the matter must be handled by an attorney.  In those cases, involve outside counsel from the outset.  Because of the lack of formality of administrative proceedings, some operators will not involve outside counsel until well into the proceedings.  This not only hampers preparation but may also increase attorneys’ fees.

· Communication:  If there is a possibility that a matter will be turned over to outside counsel at some point, communicate from the outset.  Do not assume that the attorney can step in at any point.  This is especially true if a matter has been set for hearing.  

D. Preparation


MSHA investigates every mine accident, and civil or criminal penalties are common.  Likewise, every mine inspection can be the beginning of litigation.  Safety and underground mine personnel must be prepared in the event of serious violations.  Risk management procedures can help avoid litigation or strengthen the operator’s position:

· Take and Keep Notes:  Inspectors take detailed notes of conditions.  Company personnel should do the same.  At hearing, operators can be faced with defending detailed inspector’s notes with only the recollection of witnesses.  For example, noting the times and details of conversations with inspectors can help counter damaging evidence.  If notes cannot be taken contemporaneously, they should be taken as soon as possible after the inspection.  Naturally, notes are only helpful if they are kept.  Have a system for retention of any notes related to an inspection.

· Document Conditions:  The operator should document its observations regarding conditions underlying a violation.  Again, do not rely upon memory.

· Photographs:  Inspectors and accident investigators will often photograph conditions in the mine.  There is no prohibition against the operator doing the same.  It may be advisable to photograph conditions after the inspector or investigator leaves the scene.  Otherwise, the operator may antagonize the inspector.  Also, make certain that any camera used is permissible for use underground.

· Duplicate Samples and Measurements:  Again, this is an area where the inspector will have detailed records.  Without duplicate samples and measurements, there is little defense to the inspector’s findings.

· Request Additional Testing:  If there is any reason to believe the inspector has taken an inaccurate sample or measurement, ask that it be repeated.  Most inspectors will comply.

· Do Not Assume That The Points Are Accurate:  Each proposed regular assessment contains an itemized list of the points for each category.  Make certain those are accurate.

· Notification:  Because of the substantial penalties, timely notification of accidents is crucial.  The rule of thumb should be:  “When in doubt, give notice.”

E. Risk Management


The question most often asked by operators is:  “What can we do avoid all this?”  Risk management is the most important factor in minimizing penalties.  This includes:

· Training:  One of the first areas considered by inspectors in serious violations is training.  Many inspectors believe that operators do not adequately train miners.  This is especially true with accidents caused by human error.  Every miner must receive proper training, and the operator must document the training as required by law.  

· Record-Keeping:  Diligence regarding record-keeping is a must.  Examination books, training records and all other records required by law must be current and readily accessible.  In accident investigations in particular, missing training or exam records will likely result in significant violations.

· Safety Meetings:  Regularly scheduled safety meetings are a must.  The meetings should cover particular concerns about mining conditions or safety violations.

· On-Shift Safety:  Operators should create a safety culture in the mine.  Many of the most dangerous conditions in mining arise with no warning.  Miners should be encouraged to discuss any safety concerns with management.

· Be a Responsible Employer:  Most operators understand the benefits of recognizing and rewarding employees for exemplary safety performance.  Unfortunately, some operators hesitate to fire or discipline employees for unsafe practices, except in the most egregious circumstances.  Discipline, up to and including termination, should be considered for any serious violation.  At a minimum, employees should be aware when citations are issued and, as needed, instructed on how to avoid future liability.

· Contractors:  MSHA has the discretion to cite operators for contractor violations.  Secretary of Labor v. Twentymile Coal Company, 456 F.3d 151 (D.C. Cir. 2006).  Operators should retain the right to terminate contractors for safety violations.  

· Relationships with Inspectors and Investigators:  Management should promptly address poor relations with inspectors or investigators.  Lack of cooperation and personality conflicts often lead to increased scrutiny of the mine.  Operators should take inspectors underground promptly.  The highest ranking available member of management should accompany the inspector.  While discussion with, or questions to, inspectors are expected, protracted argument will only sour relations.

· Know the Law:  Production and safety management must stay abreast of the law.  Risk management measures do little good if those enforcing them do not stay current on regulatory requirements.  Compliance with the law remains the best way to avoid liability.

IV. Conclusion


The economic impact of the increased has been significant, and operators will feel this impact for the foreseeable future.  More time is needed to evaluate the costs to the coal industry; however, increased costs are inevitable.  Regulatory compliance and appropriate risk management are more important than ever to minimize liability 
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